

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com





The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology 37 (2005) 289-305

www.elsevier.com/locate/biocel

Review

The role of inflammation in Alzheimer's disease

Ehab E. Tuppo^{a,*}, Hugo R. Arias^{b,1}

^a Center for Aging, University of Medicine and Dentistry of New Jersey-School of Osteopathic Medicine, Stratford, NJ 08084, USA

Accepted 9 July 2004

Abstract

Considerable evidence gained over the past decade has supported the conclusion that neuroinflammation is associated with Alzheimer's disease (AD) pathology. Inflammatory components related to AD neuroinflammation include brain cells such as microglia and astrocytes, the classic and alternate pathways of the complement system, the pentraxin acute-phase proteins, neuronal-type nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (AChRs), peroxisomal proliferators-activated receptors (PPARs), as well as cytokines and chemokines. Both the microglia and astrocytes have been shown to generate beta-amyloid protein ($A\beta$), one of the main pathologic features of AD. $A\beta$ itself has been shown to act as a pro-inflammatory agent causing the activation of many of the inflammatory components. Further substantiation for the role of neuroinflammation in AD has come from studies that demonstrate patients who took non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs had a lower risk of AD than those who did not. These same results have led to increased interest in pursuing anti-inflammatory therapy for AD but with poor results. On the other hand, increasing amount of data suggest that AChRs and PPARs are involved in AD-induced neuroinflammation and in this regard, future therapy may focus on their specific targeting in the AD brain. © 2004 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Alzheimer's disease; Neuroinflammation; Glial cells; Beta-amyloid protein; Senile plaques; Chemokines; Complement system; Cytokines; Interleukin; Tumor necrosis factor; Cyclooxygenase; NSAIDS; Steroids; Pentraxins; Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors

Abbreviations: αBTx, α-bungarotoxin; Aβ, beta-amyloid protein; ACh, acetylcholine; AChBP, acetylcholine-binding protein; AChR, nicotinic acetylcholine receptor; AD, Alzheimer's disease; AICD, amyloid precursor protein intracellular domain; AP, amyloid P; APP, amyloid precursor protein; C/EBP, CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein; CNS, central nervous system; NO, nitric oxide; NOS, nitric oxide synthase; ACT, α1-antichymotrypsin; COX, cyclooxygenase; CRP, C-reactive protein; IDE, insulin-degrading enzyme; IL-1β, interleukin-1 beta; IL-6, interleukin-6; IL-8, interleukin-8; MAC, membrane attack protein; M-CSF, macrophage colony-stimulating factor; MHC II, major histocompatibility complex type II; MIP, macrophage-inflammatory protein; mRNA, messenger ribonucleic acid; NFTs, neurofibrillary tangles; NSAIDs, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; PPARs, peroxisomal proliferators-activated receptors; SPs, senile plaques; TNF α , tumor necrosis factor alpha; TNF β , tumor necrosis factor beta; $[Ca^{2+}]_i$, intracellular Ca^{2+} concentration

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 856 566 6843; fax: +1 856 566 6781.

E-mail addresses: tuppoee@umdnj.edu (E.E. Tuppo), harias@westernu.edu (H.R. Arias)

¹ Tel.: +1 909 469 5424; fax: +1 909 469 5600.

1357-2725/\$ – see front matter © 2004 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.biocel.2004.07.009

^b Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, College of Pharmacy, Western University of Health Sciences, Pomona, CA 91766, USA

Contents

| 1. Introduction | 29 |
|--|----|
| 2. Cellular components of inflammation | 29 |
| 2.1. Microglia | |
| 2.2. Astrocytes | 29 |
| 2.3. Neurons | 29 |
| 2.4. The complement system | 29 |
| 2.5. Chemokines and cytokines | |
| 2.6. The Pentraxins | |
| 3. A possible link between nicotinic acetylcholine receptors and neuroinflammation | 29 |
| 4. Role of anti-inflammatory agents | 29 |
| 4.1. NSAIDs | 29 |
| 4.2. Glucocorticoid steroids | 29 |
| 5. Conclusion | 30 |
| Acknowledgement | 30 |
| References | 30 |

1. Introduction

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a progressive agerelated neurodegenerative disorder that is the most common form of dementia affecting people 65 years and older. The pathologic features of AD are the presence of senile plaques (SPs) and neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) in the brain. SPs are extracellular beta-amyloid protein (A β) deposits derived from amyloid precursor protein (APP) while NFTs are intraneuronal structures composed of tau protein. Clinically AD is characterized by impairment in memory, visuospatial skills, complex cognition, language, emotion and personality. Although the exact cause of AD remains elusive, mounting evidence continues to support the involvement of inflammation in the development of AD (Akiyama et al., 2000a).

Traditionally thought of as an immunologically privileged organ, today the CNS is known to have an endogenous immune system that is coordinated by immunocompetent cells such as the microglia. The inflammation associated with the CNS, neuroinflammation, differs from that found in the periphery. The brain lacks pain fibers, making it difficult to recognize the occurrence of inflammation and the classic signs of inflammation such as rubor (redness), tumor (swelling),

calor (heat), and dolor (pain) are typically not seen in the CNS. Also, the CNS differs from other organs in that it contains a blood–brain barrier, a system of tight junctions at the capillaries within the CNS that obstructs the entry of inflammatory cells, pathogens, and some macromolecules into the subarachnoid space. Although not complete, this barrier acts to protect the sensitive, fragile, and post-mitotic neurons from the damages typically associated with inflammation.

2. Cellular components of inflammation

The major players involved in the inflammatory process in AD are thought to be the microglia and the astrocytes and possibly to a less extent the neurons, all of which are cellular components of the brain who have many critical roles in the homeostasis and function of the brain (Akiyama et al., 2000a,b).

2.1. Microglia

The microglia are cells that support and protect the neurons and their functions in the CNS and act as immunocompetent defense cells that orchestrate the endogenous immune response of the CNS. The microglia are composed mostly of mesodermally derived macrophages (Streit & Kincaid-Colton, 1995) and they are able to express major histocompatibility complex type II (MHC II), pro-inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, reactive oxygen species, and complement proteins (Moore & O'Banion, 2002). Microglia also has phagocytic and scavenger properties and depending on the conditions that activate the microglia they can exercise both neuroprotective and neurotoxic functions in the brain (Streit, Walter, & Pennell, 1999).

The microglia play a central role in the cellular response to pathological lesions, such as AB and neuritic plaques (Kalaria, 1999). AB can attract and activate microglia leading to clustering of microglia around AB deposits sites in the brain. Microglia cultured from both AD brains and non-demented brains showed marked chemotaxis to pre-aggregated AB deposits (Rogers & Lue, 2001). Microglia can express scavenger receptors that mediate adhesion of the microglia to AB fibril-coated surfaces leading to secretion of reactive oxygen species and cell immobilization (El Khoury et al., 1996). Secretion of reactive oxygen species can lead to further damage of neurons via the free radical oxidative damage pathway. Exposure of microglia to AB causes activation of the microglia leading to an increase in cell surface expression of MHC II along with increased secretion of the pro-inflammatory cytokines interleukin-1β (IL-1β), interleukin-6 (IL-6), and tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α) as well as the chemokines interleukin-8 (IL-8), macrophage inflammatory protein- 1α (MIP- 1α), and monocyte chemo-attractant protein-1 (Rogers & Lue, 2001). Aβ can cause peripherally circulating macrophages to cross the blood-brain barrier via chemokine recruitment, possible leading to an increased inflammatory burden (Fiala et al., 1998). Another potential mechanism for AB activation of microglia is mediated through the receptor for advanced glycation end products and macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF) (Lue et al., 2001). These receptors can bind AB and trigger signals leading to cellular activation. M-CSF itself can induce microglial chemotaxis, proliferation, increased macrophage scavenger receptor expression, and enhanced cell survival (Lue et al., 2001; Tomozawa, Inoue, Takahashi, Adachi, & Satoh, 1996).

The presence of activated microglia surrounding $A\beta$ deposits may point to a phagocytic effort by microglia

in an attempt to remove AB plaques. AB has been shown to induce a phagocytic response in microglia in a dose- and time-dependent manner (Kopek & Carroll, 1998). Along with phagocytosis, AB can induce expression of nitric oxide synthase (NOS) in microglia resulting in the loss of selected neuron populations, implying neuronal damage resulting from products released by the activated microglia rather than direct action of the AB (Weldon et al., 1998). After ingestion of AB by microglia, M-CSF over-expressed by the microglia in the vicinity of AB deposits can result in enhanced phagocytosis of opsonized AB with improved clearance of the deposits (Mitrasinovic & Murphy, 2003). Microglia in rats have also been shown attempting to clear the amyloid from the CNS following phagocytosis and internalization (Frautschy, Cole, & Baird, 1992). Some of these AB laden microglias were found to migrate to vessels and to the ventricles in an attempt to rid the brain of the AB, resulting in the deposition of the $A\beta$ on the vessels. This may indicate that the distribution of some of the AB deposits typically seen in the brain may not be the initial deposition but rather placed there by microglia. A number of reports suggest that once AB is phagocytosed by the microglia, it can remain stored and undegraded for days implying limited effectiveness in degrading AB fibrils (Frackowiak et al., 1992). The application of peripherally administered antibodies to AB was found to reduce amyloid burden by triggering microglial cells to clear plaques through a receptor-mediated phagocytosis and subsequent peptide degradation (Bard et al., 2000). These antibodies were able to cross the blood-brain barrier and act directly in the brain and may offer a therapeutic approach to the treatment of AD. Research has shown that estrogen is another substance that can enhance microglial phagocytosis of Aβ (Li et al., 2000). Pretreatment of microglia with estrogen caused an enhanced dose- and time-dependent uptake of AB by the microglia while pretreatment of microglia with an estrogen antagonist significantly reduced internalization of the AB. The stimulation of the microglia by estrogen may shed some light on the benefit of estrogen in the brain but clinical trials of estrogen treatment in postmenopausal women and the prevention of AD have not been conclusive regarding this benefit (Sherwin, 2003). The microglia themselves may be a source of Aβ production in the AD brain where they have been shown to secrete AB under the influence of AB or

pro-inflammatory stimuli (Bitting, Naidu, Cordell, & Murphy, 1996). The production of $A\beta$ by microglia is still a small part of the total $A\beta$ since the major source of $A\beta$ production comes from neurons.

On the other hand, the microglia may play a role in the degradation of AB by the release of insulindegrading enzyme (IDE). IDE is a protease that can cleave a variety of small proteins, such as insulin and glucagon, and has been shown to degrade Aβ (Chesneau, Vekrellis, Rosner, & Selkoe, 2000; Qiu, Ye, Kholodenko, Seubert, & Selkoe, 1997; Qiu et al., 1998). The same studies showed that the use of IDE inhibitors blocked the degradation of A\u00e3. IDE missense mutations in diabetes mellitus type 2 resulted in a decrease of both AB and insulin leading to increased endogenous secretion of AB (Farris et al., 2004). Along with amyloid β-protein, IDE was found to regulate the levels of both APP intracellular domain (AICD), a fragment produced by the y-secretase processing of APP, and insulin (Farris et al., 2003). The researchers also showed that a deficiency of IDE resulted in a decrease in AB degradation, AICD, and insulin (causing hyperinsulinemia and glucose intolerance). Another study provided further evidence that IDE is involved in the degradation of AICD and that over-expression of IDE resulted in improved AICD degradation while IDE depletion or inhibition resulted in decreased AICD degradation (Edbauer, Willem, Lammich, Steiner, & Haass, 2002). This further suggests that IDE deficiency or hypofunction may play a role in the disease processes of both AD and diabetes mellitus.

Even at the genomic level, expression of transcription factors related to and involved with inflammation in AD has been shown to be involved in the AD brain. The expression by microglia of C/EBPβ, a member protein of the C/EBP family of transcription factors that have been shown to play a role in the regulation of many mediators of inflammation such as IL-6, interleukin- 1α (IL- 1α), IL- 1β , IL-8, TNFα, granulocyte-colony-stimulating factor, inducible nitric oxide synthase (NOS), lysozyme, hemopexin, haptoglobin, α₁-acid glycoprotein, serum amyloid A1, A2, A3, complement C3, and C-reactive protein (Valeria, 1998), have been found to be significantly elevated in AD cortex compared with non-AD cortex (Rogers, Strohmeyer, Kovelowski, & Li, 2002).

2.2. Astrocytes

Astrocytes are the most common cells in the brain but until recently little has been known about them. Their full functional capacity has not been completely elucidated, however astrocytes are involved with connective tissue and skeletal function of the brain, maintaining the functional integrity of neuronal synapses, and by influencing and/or directing the activity of neurons, and they are thought to play an active role in the function of the brain. When the brain is injured, astrocytes are believed to react by putting down glial scar tissue as part of the healing process.

The role of astrocytes in the inflammatory process associated with AD is more difficult to ascertain. SPs in the AD are known to be associated with reactive astrocytes (Dickson, 1997) and astrocytes cluster at sites of A β deposits. They have been shown to secrete many pro-inflammatory molecules, such as interleukins, prostaglandins, leukotrienes, thromboxanes, coagulation factors, complement factors, proteases, and protease inhibitors, similar to and overlapping with that of the microglia (see Table 1).

Electron microscopy of AD brain tissues revealed A β in astrocyte processes (Kurt, Davies, & Kidd, 1999). This suggests that astrocytes are involved either with the synthesis or phagocytosis of A β . Another study detected a new type of diffuse plaques associated with astrocytes, consisting of A β granules, suggesting that astrocytes might be involved in the phagocytosis of A β rather than the production of A β (Yamaguchi, Sugihara, Ogawa, Saido, & Ihara, 1998). The authors propose that plaque density reaches a plateau when

Table 1
Molecules and products secreted by microglia and astrocytes reportedly associated with AD (McGeer & McGeer, 1995, 2001)

| Microglia | Astrocytes |
|--------------------------|--------------------------|
| Complement proteins | Complement proteins |
| Complement inhibitors | Complement inhibitors |
| Αβ | Αβ |
| Cytokines and chemokines | Cytokines and chemokines |
| IL-1 | IL-1 |
| TNF-α | TNF-α |
| IL-6 | IL-6 |
| IL-8 | IL-8 |
| MIP-1 | S100 |
| Reactive oxygen species | COX-2 |
| MHC II | |

plaque formation and destruction are equally balanced. Aß degradation by astrocytes is further supported by research, which showed that mouse astrocytes are able to degrade AB in vitro and in situ (Wyss-Coray et al., 2003). This suggests that accumulation of astrocytes around AB deposits indicate active phagocytosis of AB by astrocytes and that possibly deficits in the clearance of AB by astrocytes is part of the pathology of AD. Another study showed that astrocytes accumulate AB originating from neuronal origin and that some of these AB laden astrocytes can lyse resulting in the formation of amyloid plaques (Nagele, D'Andrea, Lee, Venkataraman, & Wang, 2003). Using three-dimensional reconstruction of SPs in different stages of development it was shown that while microglial cells are the most important factor behind plaque formation, astrocytes are the major factor in plaque degradation (Wegiel, Wang, Tarnawski, & Lach, 2000). While previous studies suggest that astrocytes may play a role in Aβ processing, their main function is thought to be associated with the release of proinflammatory products. Astrocytes can be activated by the Aβ to produce chemokines, cytokines, and reactive oxygen species that may cause neuronal cell damage (Johnstone, Gearing, & Miller, 1999; Smits et al., 2002). Under the influence of macrophage released IL-1, astrocytes were found to over-express the cytokine S100B in neuritic plaques (Mrak & Griffin, 2001a). IL-1 and IL-6 were able to induce human astrocytes to over-express the gene for the acute phase protein α_1 -antichymotrypsin (ACT) (Nilsson, Das, & Potter, 2001). ACT mRNA was also shown to be expressed at a higher level by astrocytes in the gray matter of AD brains as compared to controls (Pasternack, Abraham, Van Dyke, Potter, & Younkin, 1989) and the ACT was shown to be tightly associated with amyloid plaques in AD brain (Abraham, 2001; Abraham, Selkoe, & Potter, 1988). AD brains were found to have high levels of NOS-positive astrocytes as compared to controls (Simic et al., 2000), suggesting increased production of nitric oxide (NO) in the AD brain. AB has been shown to activate cultured astrocytes to produce IL-1\u03b3, NOS-mRNA, and NO (Hu, Akama, Krafft, Chromy, & Van Eldik, 1998). Under the stimulation of IL-1 α and IL-1 β , astrocytes have been shown to produce NO that leads to neuronal damage (Chao et al., 1996). Chemokines released by the astrocytes attract microglia, which further expresses pro-inflammatory products contributing to additional neuronal cell damage.

2.3. Neurons

The neurons themselves seem to play a role in the inflammatory process of AD and have been implicated in the production of inflammatory products. Neurons are able to express significantly higher levels of classical pathway complement protein mRNAs in AD brains as compared to controls (Shen, Li, McGeer, & McGeer, 1997). This has been supported by further research demonstrating neuronal expression of complement proteins and their mRNAs (Akiyama et al., 2000b; Strohmeyer, Shen, & Rogers, 2000; Terai, Walker, McGeer, & McGeer, 1997; Yu, Bradt, & Cooper, 2002). Expression of the pentraxins, C-reactive protein and amyloid P, have been shown to be elevated in AD neurons (Yasojima, Schwab, McGeer, & McGeer, 2000). Neurons are able to produce several cytokines, such as IL-1 (Friedman, 2001; Tchelingerian, Le Seux, & Jacque, 1996), IL-6 (Li, Shen, et al., 2000; Li, Barger, Liu, Mrak, & Griffin, 2000), and TNFα (Liu et al., 1994; Renauld & Spengler, 2002; Tchelingerian, Vignais, & Jacque, 1994; Tchelingerian et al., 1996). The production of these pro-inflammatory products by the neurons may in fact trigger further inflammatory processes that worsen the environment and lead to neuronal toxicity and death.

2.4. The complement system

The complement system is an integral part of the immune system and it plays an important role in the killing of microbes and in the transport and clearance of immune complexes. The complement system is composed of a group of soluble serum proteins, such as C1, C2, C3, C4, C5, C6, C7, C8, C9 and their components, that function as several cooperatively self-regulating cascades or pathways. The classic pathway, an antibodydependant pathway, is triggered when an antibody (immunoglobulin M or immunoglobulin G) binds to a foreign particle. The alternate pathway constitutes a humoral element of the defense system against infection. It is directly activated by microorganisms and does not require antibodies for activation. Triggering the complement system can result in activation of adhering proteins that act as opsonins of foreign particles

for destruction by phagocytes, direct killing of organisms by forming membrane attack complex (MAC, the terminal cytolytic component of both the classical and alternative pathway) that disrupt the integrity of the organism's membrane, and activation of proteins that act as chemo-attractants for polymorphonuclear leucocytes. Regulation of the complement system occurs via regulator proteins such as factor H, factor I, C4 binding protein, CDS 46, CD59, and C1 inhibitor that keep the system under control.

Over-expression and activation of the complement system has been shown to occur in the Alzheimer's brain (Yasojima, Schwab, McGeer, & McGeer, 1999a). Levels of complement mRNAs for C1r, C1s, C2, C3, C4, C5, C6, C7, C8, and C9 and their resulting protein products were found to be significantly higher in brain areas affected with AD than in the liver of these same individuals. Complement regulators, such as C1 inhibitor and CD59 that protect the host cell against the damage produced by an activated complement system, have not been shown to significantly inhibit complement activation in AD brains (Yasojima, McGeer, & McGeer, 1999). Indeed, research has shown significantly decreased levels of CD59 in the cerebral cortex and hippocampus of AD brains as compared to age control non-AD brains (Price, Kemper, Atkinson, & Morris, 2002; Yang, Konishi, & Shen, 2002). Since CD59 protects host cells against MAC insertion and lysis, ineffective or low amounts of CD59 may allow the MAC to attack and damage unprotected neurons. This would indicate that the inflammatory process causing an increase in the activation of the complement system in the AD brain is not matched by an increase in regulators of the complement system. It may also be that complement regulators are overwhelmed and unable to cope with the increased activation of the complement system.

Activation of the classical complement system in the CNS may not depend on antibodies, as traditionally thought. Evidence has shown that the $A\beta$ can directly bind and activate the classic complement cytolytic pathway in the brain in the absence of antibodies in areas of the brain associated with AD pathology (Bradt, Kolb, & Cooper, 1998; Rogers et al., 1992). This continues to suggest that the $A\beta$ is neurotoxic and contributes to the pathophysiology of AD. C1q, a complement protein, has been shown to bind to fibrillar $A\beta$, resulting in the activation of the classical com-

plement pathway (Afagh, Cummings, Cribbs, Cotman, & Tenner, 1996; Chen, Frederickson, & Brunden, 1996; Jiang, Burdick, Glabe, Cotman, & Tenner, 1994). C1q has also been shown to be associated with most amyloid deposits in addition to neurons having stained positive for C1q in the AD brain but not in control brains (Chen et al., 1996). Non-C1q activation of the classical activation system by AB can also occur via the contact fibrinolysis system (Bergamaschini, Donarini, Gobbo, Parnetti, & Gallai, 2001). The Aβ has been implicated with the induction and formation of the activated C4 and C3 fragment proteins of the classical complement system (Webster, Bradt, Rogers, & Cooper, 1997a). Levels of the MAC, composed of complement proteins C5-9, were found to be elevated in AD brain cortex and were associated with NFTs containing neurons and neuritic plaques but not in non-AD brain cortex (Webster et al., 1997b). Neurons, such as the pyramidal neurons, have been shown to express complement proteins of the classical pathway, C1q, C1r, C1s, C2, C3, C4, C5, C6, C7, C8, and C9 in the AD brain to higher degree than that seen in control non-AD brains (Terai et al., 1997). Tau protein has also been shown to be an antibody-independent activator of the classical complement pathway (Shen et al., 2001).

The alternative complement system is composed of six proteins, C3, factor B, factor D, factor H, factor I, and properdin that perform the function of initiation, recognition, and amplification of the alternative complement pathway. Aß has been shown to independently activate the alternate complement pathway in a highly specific manner leading to the generation of a cytokinelike C5a complement activation fragment (Bradt et al., 1998). This fragment can then direct the formation of the MAC. The mRNA for the component protein factor B has been shown to be present in the AD frontal cortex and its split products are significantly elevated signifying activation of the alternate complement pathway (Strohmeyer et al., 2000). Interestingly, the major inhibitors of the pathway, factors H and I, were not found to be significantly elevated.

2.5. Chemokines and cytokines

The cytokines are a family of proteins that include the interleukins (ILs), TNF α , and TNF β . Their production is increased in inflammatory states and they function by regulating the intensity and duration of the immune response. They are produced by both microglia and astrocytes in the CNS (Hopkins & Rothwell, 1995). Chemokines are a family of small pro-inflammatory cytokine proteins that participate in inflammatory cell recruitment. The chemokines are released by different cells in response to injury and they function by attracting leucocytes to sites of inflammation where they induce cell activation. Both cytokines and chemokines have been shown to be elevated in AD brains (Akiyama et al., 2000a; Moore & O'Banion, 2002; Wilson, Finch, & Cohen, 2002).

Aβ has been shown to increase expression of several cytokine mRNAs (Lee, Nagai, & Kim, 2002). Overexpression of the immune modifying cytokine IL-1 by microglia (Griffin et al., 1989; Griffin, Sheng, Roberts, & Mrak, 1995; Sheng, Mrak, & Griffin, 1997) and astrocytes (Johnstone et al., 1999) has been shown to occur in AD brain. IL-1 manifests properties that include promoting the synthesis and processing of the AB precursor protein, enhancing neuronal acetylcholinesterase activity, microglial activation and expression of further IL-1 production, astrocyte activation, and expression of the cytokine S100B by the astrocytes (Mrak & Griffin, 2001a, 2001b). S100B is also an inducer of neuronal expression of AB precursor protein (Li, Shen, et al., 2000a; Li, Barger, Liu, Mrak, & Griffin, 2000b) and has been shown to be associated with NFTs (Sheng et al., 1997). TNF α , a cytokine produced by microglia that is known to promote cell survival and death in the CNS (Stoll, Jander, & Schroeter, 2000) has been shown to be elevated in AD brain (Fillit et al., 1991; Perry, Collins, Wiener, Acton, & Go, 2001). TNFα has also been shown to increase the production of Aβ (Blasko, Marks, Steiner, Hartmann, & Grubeck-Loebenstein, 1999). On the other hand, TNF α has been reported to have neuroprotective properties (Akiyama et al., 2000a; Tarkowski et al., 2003) in the AD brain, making it difficult to understand the exact role of TNF α in the AD brain. Evidence also points to the involvement of chemokines in the inflammatory process associated with AD brain (Streit, Conde, & Harrison, 2001; Szczepanik et al., 2001). Aß itself has been shown to induce production of chemokines in macrophages and in astrocytes (Johnstone et al., 1999; Smits et al., 2002).

The genetics of cytokines may play a role in the risk of AD. Different alleles or polymorphisms of a gene maybe associated with increased risk for the disease. The IL-1A 2,2 genotype of the IL-1 gene was noted to confer an increased risk for AD in a group of neuropathologically confirmed AD patients (Nicoll et al., 2000). The study further showed that homozygosity for both IL-1A allele 2 and IL-1B allele 2 was associated with even higher risk, a 10-fold increase, for AD. The IL-1A T/T allele was strongly associated with AD onset before age of 65 in an Italian population, with carriers of this allele showing signs of the disease nine years earlier than carriers of IL-1A C/C (Grimaldi et al., 2000). IL-1B polymorphism was also shown to be associated with AD in a Japanese study (Shibata et al., 2002), with a younger age of onset of AD in an Italian population (Sciacca et al., 2003) and with late onset AD in an Australian study (Hedley et al., 2002). These polymorphisms may lead to overexpression of the gene leading to additional activation of microglia, increased APP production, and increased Aß deposition (Griffin, Nicoll, Grimaldi, Sheng, & Mrak, 2000). However, other studies contradict the previous findings. No association was found between the IL-1 C/T polymorphism and AD in a Chinese population (Kuo et al., 2003) while another populationbased study concluded that it does not seem to be an association between interleukin-1A polymorphism and late onset AD (Fidani et al., 2002). IL-6 polymorphism has been linked to AD (Papassotiropoulos, Hock, & Nitsch, 2001) with one study has showing a delay in the onset and a reduction in the risk of AD associated with the polymorphism in a German population (Papassotiropoulos et al., 1999). Another study looked at polymorphism in the interaction between two cytokines, the pro-inflammatory IL-6 and the anti-inflammatory IL-10, which showed that the co-occurrence of the alleles IL-10A and IL-6C was associated with a higher risk of AD (Arosio et al., 2004). TNFα polymorphism has also been linked to AD in a British and American population study (Culpan et al., 2003) and in a Chinese population study (Ma, Tang, Lam, & Chiu, 2004).

2.6. The Pentraxins

The pentraxins are a family of acute-phase proteins that are involved in many pathologic conditions in the body. Their levels tend to rise significantly following tissue injury or inflammation. The classical pentraxins include the C-reactive protein (CRP) and amyloid

P (AP). CRP and AP are both involved in the innate immune defense system and can activate the classical complement system by an antibody-independent pathway (Elward & Gasque, 2003; McGeer & McGeer, 2001; McGeer, Yasojima, Schwab, & McGeer, 2001; Mold, Gewurz, & Du Clos, 1999; Szalai, Agrawal, Greenbough, & Volanakis, 1997). Both CRP and AP are associated with AD brain lesions (McGeer et al., 2001). AP, a component of all amyloid deposits, has been shown to have widespread association with NFTs and amyloid plaques (McGeer et al., 2001; Yasojima et al., 2000). Originally thought to have been primarily produced in the liver, both CRP and AP have been shown to be generated by pyramidal neurons in the brain and this is up-regulated in the AD brain (Yasojima et al., 2000). Although both CRP and AP have protective functions in the defense mechanisms of the body, they may play a destructive role in the pathogenesis of AD by activating the complement system, leading to cellular and tissue damage in the brain.

3. A possible link between nicotinic acetylcholine receptors and neuroinflammation

A great amount of experimental evidence indicates that several neuronal-type nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (AChRs) are related with the pathophysiology of AD (Auld, Kornecook, Bastianetto, & Quirion, 2002; Wang et al., 2000; reviewed in Zamani & Allen, 2001). On the contrary, the role of AChRs in the ADrelated neuroinflammation process is still not very well known.

The possibility of connection between the CNS and the inflammation process has been an object of experimental scrutiny during the last years. However, it was not until now that the details of this relationship were determined (Wang et al., 2003). The basic idea is that the vagus nerve stimulation inhibits TNF release from macrophages, with the subsequent reduction in the inflammatory response. This physiological mechanism is termed "cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway" because is mediated by the neurotransmitter acetylcholine (ACh) (Borovikova, Ivanova, Zhang, Yang, & Botchkina, 2000). The fact that the competitive antagonist α -bungarotoxin (α BTx) inhibits the ACh-mediated effect suggests that one possible receptor subtype might

be the $\alpha 7$ AChR (reviewed in Arias, 2000; Arias, Kem, Trudell, Blanton, 2002). The experimental evidence indicating that electrical stimulation of the vagus nerve inhibits TNF synthesis in wild-type mice but not in $\alpha 7$ subunit-knockout mice strongly supports that conjecture (Wang et al., 2003).

Although the "cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway" is mainly associated with the systemic inflammation process, a similar regulatory mechanism may occur during AD-induced neuroinflammation. This hypothesis suggests certain role for neuronal-type AChRs in the process of neuroinflammation.

Glial cells of the CNS such as astrocytes, microglias, and O2A-oligodendrocyte progenitors, but not differentiated oligodendrocytes, express several neuronaltype AChR subunits including $\alpha 3$, $\alpha 4$, $\alpha 5$, $\alpha 6$, $\alpha 7$, β2, and β4 (Graham et al., 2002; Nagele et al., 2003; Rogers, Gregori, Carlson, Gahring, & Noble, 2001; Sharma & Vijayaraghavan, 2001; Teaktong et al., 2003; reviewed in Sharma & Vijayaraghavan, 2002). The α 7 AChR is the most copious receptor subtype found in astrocytes (Graham et al., 2002, 2003; Hösli, Ruhl, & Hösli, 2000; Hösli, Jurasin, Ruhl, Luthy, & Hösli, 2001; Nagele et al., 2003; Sharma & Vijayaraghavan, 2001; Teaktong et al., 2003). More interesting is the fact that the content of α 7 subunits is increased in astrocytes from AD patients when compared with age-matched normal individuals (Teaktong et al., 2003). A possibility is that this is an equilibrium mechanism that helps to maintain the production of TNF α and TNF β in astrocytes from AD brains at more physiological levels. However, direct evidence supporting this hypothesis has still not been shown.

Functional experiments using hippocampal astrocytes indicated that the expressed nicotinic receptors posses basically the same binding responses as the neuronal-type $\alpha 7$ AChR, but these receptors also behave physiologically in unique ways (Hösli et al., 2000). For instance, AChR stimulation increases intracellular Ca^{2+} ([Ca^{2+}]_i) in astrocytes, which in turn triggers Ca^{2+} release from intracellular caffeine-sensitive stores (Sharma & Vijayaraghavan, 2001). Since this stimulation was inhibited by αBTx and methyllycaconitine, two specific competitive antagonists of the $\alpha 7$ AChR, the most plausible receptor subtype is the $\alpha 7$ (reviewed in Arias, 2000; Arias et al., 2002). Nevertheless, the nicotine-mediated [Ca^{2+}]_i increase in O2A-oligodendrocyte progenitors is abolished by

dihydro- β -erythroidin, a competitive antagonist with high specificity for the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ subtype (Rogers et al., 2001), suggesting the involvement of this AChR subtype as well. Additionally, ACh-induced currents were observed in molluscan glial cells, which were inhibited by αBTx , suggesting a $\alpha 7$ -like receptor (Hochstrate & Schlue, 1995; Smit et al., 2001). These as well as other experimental results support the idea that astrocytes can be considered an excitable cells, although they act through unique mechanisms including the so-called "Ca²+ waves" (reviewed in Perea & Araque, 2002).

The existence of AChRs in non-neuronal cells suggests non-synaptic sources for ACh (Borovikova et al., 2000; Wessler et al., 1997). However, the simplest explanation is based on the fact that ACh diffuses across the extracellular space from neurons to non-neuronal cells (reviewed in Sharma & Vijayaraghavan, 2002). It has been demonstrated that ACh can be released from synapses in hippocampal neurons targeting astrocytes (Araque, Martín, Perea, Arellano, & Buño, 2002; reviewed in Perea & Araque, 2002). The fact that one single astrocyte may envelope many synapses supports this conjecture (reviewed in Perea & Araque, 2002).

On the other hand, molluscan glial cells secrete a hydrosoluble protein called ACh-binding protein (AChBP) (Brejc et al., 2001). A plausible function for the AChBP is to buffer the concentration of ACh in the synaptic cleft. Another additional role might be as a carrier protein, which would permit long-distance diffusion of ACh molecules without being hydrolyzed by acetylcholinesterases. However, the functional importance of the AChBP in the mammalian CNS is still under study.

Although these results suggest the participation of AChRs on the neuroinflammation process, we cannot rule out the involvement of other receptors as well. For example, there is evidence indicating that noradrenergic receptors are also implicated in AD-induced neuroinflammation (reviewed in Feinstein et al., 2002; Galea, Heneka, Dello Russo, & Feinstein, 2003).

4. Role of anti-inflammatory agents

Based on the compelling evidence that inflammatory processes are involved in the pathogenesis of AD,

research has looked into the use of anti-inflammatory drugs as a treatment option for patients with AD. Drugs such as the nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and glucocorticoid steroids have been studied to determine if they offer any benefits to AD patients.

4.1. NSAIDs

The NSAIDs are a family of drugs that include the salicylate, propionic acid, acetic acid, fenamate, oxicam, and the COX-2 inhibitor classes. They have analgesic, antipyretic, and anti-inflammatory properties and function by inhibiting the cyclooxygenase (COX) enzyme that catalysis the initial step in the conversion of arachidonic acid to several eicosanoids including throboxanes, leukotrienes, and prostaglandins. Eicosanoids play major regulatory roles in cell function including immune and inflammatory functions. The COX enzyme is known to exist as two isoenzymes, COX-1 and COX-2, both of which occur in the brain but whose functions are not well understood. COX-1 is constitutively expressed and is responsible for homeostatic production of prostanoids. COX-2 is inducible in that its expression can be modified depending on the stimuli but may also have a role in the development of homeostasis (Morita, 2002). With the exception of COX-2 inhibitors, all classes of NSAIDs inhibit both COX-1 and COX-2 enzymes. COX-2 inhibitors, as their name implies, selectively inhibit the COX-2 enzyme.

Epidemiological evidence continues to build up indicating that NSAIDs may lower the risk of developing AD (Breitner, 1996; Hoozemans, Veerhuis, Rozemuller, & Eikelenboom, 2003; In't Veld, Launer, Breteler, Hofman, & Stricker, 2002; Mahyar, Gill, Samii, 2003; McGeer, McGeer, Rogers, & Sibley, 1990; McGeer, Schulzer, & McGeer, 1996; Pasinetti, 2002; Rich et al., 1995). Since patients with rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis are typically treated with and are exposed to NSAIDs for a long period of time, epidemiological studies have looked into the association of these diseases and AD. Many of those studies showed an inverse relationship between having arthritis (and being treated with NSAIDs) and AD (Zandi & Breitner, 2001). A prospective population-based study has also shown a significant reduction in the risk of AD in subjects who had taken NSAIDs for a cumulative

period of 24 months or more (In't Veld et al., 2001). Post-mortem studies have also shown the ability of NSAIDs to reduce the inflammation that is consistently seen in AD brain tissue (Mackenzie, 2001). In one post-mortem study, brain tissue from normal individuals with history of chronic NSAID use was compared to a control group without history of chronic NSAID use which demonstrated that while both showed no differences in the amount of SPs or NFTs, the control group had four times the number of activated microglia (Mackenzie & Munoz, 1998), indicating a role for microglia regulation by the NSAIDs. A possible mode of action for the effectiveness of NSAIDs is by the blockage of COX-2 in the brain. It has been shown that COX-2 mRNA and protein are considerably up-regulated in affected areas of AD brain (Pasinetti & Aisen, 1998; Ho et al., 1999; Yasojima et al., 1999b), with COX-2 immunoreactivity noted mainly in pyramidal neurons in the cerebral cortex and the hippocampal formation (Nogawa et al., 2003), suggesting the involvement of COX-2 in AD.

The NSAIDs have been shown to directly affect the production of AB through several mechanisms. Ibuprofen, indomethacin, and sulindac sulphide (but not naproxen, celecoxib, or aspirin) were shown to decrease the $A\beta_{42}$ peptide by up to 80% in cultured cells (Weggen et al., 2001). Since not all NSAIDs had this effect, it would seem that this effect occurs through a process that is independent of their anti-inflammatory COX activity. Researchers noted a concomitant increase in the release of the $A\beta_{38}$ isoform suggesting that those NSAIDs reduce $A\beta_{42}$ production be shifting to the production of AB38. Treatment of mice overexpressing APP with ibuprofen resulted in a reduction of the amyloid plaque load in the cortex along with a reduction of microglial activation in the mice (Yan et al., 2003). A study analyzing the ability of common NSAIDs and the enantiomers of flurbiprofen to lower Aβ levels in neuroglioma cells and in AAP transgenic mice showed that some but not all of the NSAIDs tested lowered the Aβ in cells and were able to reduce the AB levels in the mice (Eriksen et al., 2003). The method of Aβ reduction was proposed to occur by shifting γ -secretase (the enzymatic activity by which Aβ is cleaved from APP carboxyl-terminal fragments) to produce the Aβ₃₈ isoform instead of the Aβ₄₂ isoform. Further research has provided evidence that NSAIDs directly modulate the γ -secretase activity to decrease AB42 production (Weggen et al., 2003). NSAIDs can also lower the levels of AB by inhibiting the protein Rho, a protein that belongs to a family of small GTP proteins that are involved in the regulation of multiple cellular functions (Zhou et al., 2003). Only NSAIDs, such as sulindac sulfide, ibuprofen, and indomethacin (but not naproxen, meloxicam, or piroxicam) that are able to block Rho and its associated kinase were able to lower the levels of AB, suggesting that Rho regulates the amount of AB production. Neurons that were pretreated with ibuprofen showed decreased production of AB upon exposure to the cytokines TNF α and TNFy as compared to untreated neurons (Blasko et al., 2001). Another study showed that neurons that were treated with COX-1 inhibitors, such as ibuprofen and acetyl salicylic acid, were more resistant to the effects of Aβ than neurons that were treated by COX-2 inhibitors (Bate, Veerhuis, Eikelenboom, & Williams, 2003). The study also showed a decrease in the production of prostaglandin E_2 in the neurons by treatment of both COX-1 and COX-2 inhibitors. Indomethacin has been shown to blunt the stimulation of microglia to Aβ in rats (Netland, Newton, Majocha, & Tate, 1998). NSAIDs may also function by activating (Lehmann, Lenhard, Oliver, Ringold, & Kliewer, 1997) the peroxisomal proliferators-activated receptors (PPARs), a group of nuclear hormone receptors that act to negatively inhibit the transcription of pro-inflammatory genes. PPARα agonists have been shown to inhibit IL-6 and TNF α , and COX-2 expression in cell cultures (Combs, Bates, Karlo, & Landreth, 2001). PPARy has been shown to inhibit microglial activation and a multitude of pro-inflammatory agents such as cytokines, NOS, and COX-2 (Landreth & Heneka, 2001). Neuroblastoma cells that were stimulated with the proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6, interferon- α , and interferon- γ to produce A β and APP were shown to be reversed by the addition of ibuprofen, indomethacin, or PPARy agonists (Sastre et al., 2003). The study also showed that ibuprofen and indomethacin were able to regulate β-secretase mRNA levels, expression, and activity and this effect was inhibited by the addition of PPARγ antagonists, suggesting that β-secretase activity is modulated by PPARy. Another study showed that PPARγ agonists prevented Aβ-stimulated microglial activation and secretion of pro-inflammatory products, microglial-mediated astrocyte proliferation, IL-6 and TNF α expression, and COX-2 expression in cell cultures (Combs, Johnson, Karlo, Cannady, & Landreth, 2000).

Unfortunately, clinical trials of NSAIDs in AD patients have not been very fruitful (Aisen, 2002) and especially disappointing for the COX-2 inhibitors. A recent randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial assessing the effect of the COX-2 inhibitor rofecoxib and the COX-1 and COX-2 inhibitor naproxen versus placebo on AD progression did not slow the cognitive decline of patients with mild-to-moderate AD (Aisen et al., 2003). Among the reasons the authors provide to explain their outcome is that possibly by the time the disease becomes clinically significant, the neuropathology is too advanced for NSAID therapy to be effective. Primary prevention trials of NSAID use in elderly persons without dementia to determine long-term risk reduction in AD are under way (Aisen et al., 2003). Another randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial using the COX-2 inhibitor rofecoxib did not slow the decline of AD (Reines et al., 2004). A study looking into the effect of aspirin COX inhibition on platelet $A\beta$ and APP production did not modify the levels of AB or APP in either plasma or serum (Skovronsky, Lee, & Pratico, 2001), suggesting that COX may not be playing a big role in APP secretion. In a study using the anti-inflammatory drug hydroxychloroquine was also shown to be ineffective in slowing down the rate of decline in patients with early AD in a randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled study (Van Gool, Weinstein, Scheltens, & Walstra, 2001). It is important to note that the primary action of the NSAIDs in AD may not be completely due to their COX inhibitory activity but to their modulatory effects on PPARs, secretase activity, and other mechanisms. Also, not all NSAIDs were shown to be effective in lowering production of $A\beta$ at the cellular level as described above, suggesting that all NSAIDs are not created equally. Specific Aβ-lowering NSAIDs may need to be used in future clinical trials to see if they are as effective clinically. It is possible that NSAIDs may help in reducing the incidence of the disease but may not be as useful once the disease occurs. In other words, they may be able to keep the genie in the bottle but once it is out, there is no putting it back

One of the factors preventing the widespread use of NSAIDs to lower the risk of developing AD is the toxicity associated with NSAIDs. NSAIDs are well recognized as having gastrointestinal, renal, hematological, cardiovascular, and CNS toxicity and the elderly population that would benefit from these drugs is also the most susceptible to their toxic side effects. It is usually the gastrointestinal toxicity that gains the most attention since 2-4% of all NSAID users will develop upper gastrointestinal bleeding, symptomatic ulceration, or intestinal perforation each year, making gastrointestinal side effects one of the most common reported side effects related to medication use (Schug, Garrett, & Gillespie, 2003). This toxicity occurs when COX-1, which is involved in cytoprotection of the gastric mucosa via the production of prostaglandin E₂ and prostacyclin, is blocked by NSAIDs, leading to mucosal damage. Since COX-2 is not known to occur in normal gastric mucosa, COX-2 inhibitors are not expected to cause mucosal damage, and COX-2 inhibitors have been shown to cause less mucosal damage than typical NSAIDs (Deeks, Smith, & Bradley, 2002; Mamdani et al., 2002; Schug et al., 2003).

4.2. Glucocorticoid steroids

Steroids are considered to be potent antiinflammatory agents and function by regulating the transcription of assorted inflammatory molecules, inhibiting the production of enzymes which mediate prostaglandin production, and reducing the expression of cytokines and complement proteins that are pro-inflammatory (Mackenzie, 2001). It is therefore surprising to find that the epidemiologic data for the beneficial effect of glucocorticoid steroid use in the AD brain are either very weak (Hull, Lieb, & Fiebich, 2002; McGeer et al., 1996) or possibly harmful (Gambassi, Landi, & Bernabei, 1997; Harris-White et al., 2001). While glucocorticoids were shown to inhibit AB induction of chemokines and cytokines in the CNS (Szczepanik & Ringheim, 2003), a randomized, placebo-controlled trial conducted to determine whether prednisone treatment slowed the rate of cognitive decline in AD patients showed that there was no difference in cognitive decline between the treated group and the control group (Aisen et al., 2000). Indeed, total levels of the glucocorticoid cortisol in the cerebrospinal fluid and serum of AD patients were found to be significantly elevated when compared to nondemented control patients (Ferrari et al., 2000; Peskind, Wilkinson, Petrie, Schellenberg, & Raskind, 2001),

suggesting that increased levels of steroids may be associated with AD.

5. Conclusion

There is too much evidence implicating the involvement of neuroinflammation in AD to be ignored. Yet the role that this neuroinflammation plays in AD is not fully understood. Is neuroinflammation secondary to the AD process or does neuroinflammation directly contribute to it? The results of some of the epidemiologic studies dealing with anti-inflammatory agents suggest that neuroinflammation may play an early role in the pathogenesis of the disease but clinical trials, especially with the COX-2 inhibitors, have been disappointing. Complicating matters is the plethora of participants, from the complement system to nicotinic receptors, implicated in the inflammatory process associated with AD with more yet to be discovered suggesting multiple inflammatory mechanisms involved in the disease. Other issues to consider are that many of the participants in the inflammatory process, such as the microglia and astrocytes, can have both neuroprotective and neurodestructive functions making it difficult to firmly place their role in the disease process. Better understanding of the inflammatory process implicated in AD is needed to improve research in designing therapy specifically targeted against the inflammatory processes. For instance, considering the presented evidence suggesting the involvement of α7-containing AChRs in neuroinflammation, the specific stimulation of this receptor subtype might help to alleviate the neuroinflammatory process found in AD patients.

Acknowledgement

This review was partially supported by an Intramural Research Grant from Western University of Health Sciences to HRA.

References

Abraham, C. R. (2001). Reactive astrocytes and α1-antichymotrypsin in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 22, 931–936.

- Abraham, C. R., Selkoe, D. J., & Potter, H. (1988). Immunochemical identification of the serine protease inhibitor alpha 1antichymotrypsin in the brain amyloid deposits of Alzheimer's disease. Cell, 52, 487–501.
- Afagh, A., Cummings, B. J., Cribbs, D. H., Cotman, C. W., & Tenner, A. J. (1996). Localization and cell association of C1q in Alzheimer's disease brain. *Experimental Neurology*, 138, 22–32.
- Aisen, P. S. (2002). The potential of anti-inflammatory drugs for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *The Lancet Neurology*, 1, 279–284.
- Aisen, P. S., Davis, K. L., Berg, J. D., Schafer, K., Campbell, K., Thomas, R. G., et al. (2000). A randomized controlled trial of prednisone in Alzheimer's disease: Alzheimer's disease cooperative study. *Neurology*, 54, 588–593.
- Aisen, P. S., Schafer, K. A., Grundman, M., Pfeiffer, E., Sano, M., Davis, K. L., et al. (2003). Effects of rofecoxib or naproxen vs placebo on Alzheimer disease progression. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 289, 2819–2826.
- Akiyama, H., Barger, S., Barnum, S., Bradt, B., Bauer, J., Cole, G. M., et al. (2000a). Inflammation and Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiology of Aging, 21, 383–421.
- Akiyama, H., Arai, T., Kondo, H., Tanno, E., Haga, C., & Ikeda, K. (2000b). Cell mediators of inflammation in the Alzheimer disease brain. Alzheimer Disease and Associated Disorders, 14, S47–S53.
- Araque, A., Martín, E. D., Perea, G., Arellano, J. I., & Buño, W. (2002). Synaptically released acetylcholine evokes Ca²⁺ elevations in astrocytes in hippocampal slices. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 22, 2443–2450.
- Arias, H. R. (2000). Localization of agonist and competitive antagonist binding sites on nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *Neuro*chemistry International, 36, 595–645.
- Arias, H. R., Kem, W. R., Trudell, J. R., & Blanton, M. P. (2002). Unique general anesthetic binding sites within distinct conformational states of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. *International Review of Neurobiology*, 54, 1–50.
- Arosio, B., Trabattoni, D., Galimberti, L., Bucciarelli, P., Fasano, F., Calabrese, C., Cazzullo, C. L., Vergani, C., Annoni, G., & Clerici, M. (2004). Interleukin-10 and interleukin-6 gene polymorphisms as risk factors for Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 25, 1009–1015.
- Auld, D. S., Kornecook, T. J., Bastianetto, S., & Quirion, R. (2002).
 Alzheimer's disease and the basal forebrain cholinergic system: relations to β-amyloid peptides, cognition, and treatment strategies. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 68, 209–245.
- Bard, F., Cannon, C., Barbour, R., Burke, R. L., Games, D., Grajeda, H., et al. (2000). Peripherally administered antibodies against amyloid beta-peptide enter the central nervous system and reduce pathology in a mouse model of Alzheimer disease. *Nature Medicine*, 6, 916–919.
- Bate, C., Veerhuis, R., Eikelenboom, P., & Williams, A. (2003). Neurons treated with cyclo-oxygenase-1 inhibitors are resistant to amyloid- β_{1-42} . Neuroreport, 14, 2099–2103.
- Bergamaschini, L., Donarini, C., Gobbo, G., Parnetti, L., & Gallai, V. (2001). Activation of complement and contact system in Alzheimer's disease. *Mechanisms of Ageing and Development*, 122, 1971–1983.

- Bitting, L., Naidu, A., Cordell, B., & Murphy, G. M. (1996). Beta-amyloid peptide secretion by a microglial cell line is induced by beta-amyloid-(25-35) and lipopolysaccharide. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271, 16084–16089.
- Blasko, I., Marks, F., Steiner, E., Hartmann, T., & Grubeck-Loebenstein, B. (1999). TNF alpha plus IFN gamma induce the production of Alzheimer beta-amyloid peptides, and decrease the secretion of APPs. FASEB Journal, 13, 63–68.
- Blasko, I., Apochal, A., Boeck, G., Hartmann, T., Grubeck-Loebstein, B., & Ransmayr, G. (2001). Ibuprofen decreases cytokine-induced amyloid beta production in neuronal cells. *Neurobiology of Disease*, 8, 1094–1101.
- Borovikova, L. V., Ivanova, S., Zhang, M., Yang, H., & Botchkina, G. I. (2000). Vagus nerve stimulation attenuates the systemic inflammatory response to endotoxin. *Nature*, 405, 458–462.
- Bradt, B. M., Kolb, W. P., & Cooper, N. R. (1998). Complement-dependent proinflammatory properties of the Alzheimer's disease beta-peptide. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 188, 431–438.
- Breitner, J. C. (1996). The role of anti-inflammatory drugs in the prevention and treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *Annual Review of Medicine*, 47, 401–411.
- Brejc, K., van Dijk, W. J., Klaassen, R. V., Schuurmans, M., van der Oost, J., Smit, A. B., et al. (2001). Crystal structure of an Achbinding protein reveals the ligand-binding domain of nicotinic receptors. *Nature*, 411, 269–276.
- Chao, C. C., Hu, S., Sheng, W. S., Bu, D., Bukrinsky, M. I., & Peterson, P. K. (1996). Cytokine-stimulated astrocytes damage human neurons via a nitric oxide mechanism. *Glia*, 16, 276–284.
- Chen, S., Frederickson, R., & Brunden, K. R. (1996). Neuroglial-mediated immunoinflammatory responses in Alzheimer's disease: complement activation and therapeutic approaches. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 17, 781–787.
- Chesneau, V., Vekrellis, K., Rosner, M. R., & Selkoe, D. J. (2000).
 Purified recombinant insulin-degrading enzyme degrades amyloid β-protein but does not promote its oligomerization. *The Biochemical Journal*, 351, 509–516.
- Combs, C. K., Johnson, D. E., Karlo, J. C., Cannady, S. B., & Landreth, G. E. (2000). Inflammatory mechanisms in Alzheimer's disease: inhibition of β-amyloid-stimulated proinflammatory responses and neurotoxicity by PPARγ agonists. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 20, 558–567.
- Combs, C. K., Bates, P., Karlo, J. C., & Landreth, G. E. (2001). Regulation of β-amyloid stimulated proinflammatory responses by peroxisome proliferators-activated receptor α. Neurochemistry International, 39, 449–457.
- Culpan, D., MacGowan, S. H., Ford, J. M., Nicoll, J. A. R., Griffin, W. S., Dewar, D., et al. (2003). Tumor necrosis factor-α gene polymorphism and Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroscience Letters*, 350, 61–65.
- Deeks, J. J., Smith, L. A., & Bradley, M. D. (2002). Efficacy, tolerability and upper gastrointestinal safety of celecoxib for treatment of osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis: systemic review of randomized controlled trials. *British Medical Journal*, 325, 619.
- Dickson, D. W. (1997). The pathogenesis of senile plaques. *Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology*, 56, 321–339.

- Edbauer, D., Willem, M., Lammich, S., Steiner, H., & Haass, C. (2002). Insulin-degrading enzyme rapidly removes the betaamyloid precursor protein intracellular domain (AICD). *Journal* of Biological Chemistry, 277, 13389–13393.
- El Khoury, J., Hickman, S. E., Thomas, C. A., Cao, L., Silverstein, S. C., & Loike, J. D. (1996). Scavenger receptor-mediated adhesion of microglia to beta-amyloid fibrils. *Nature*, 382, 716–719.
- Elward, K., & Gasque, P. (2003). "Eat me" and "don't eat me" signals govern the innate immune response and tissue repair in the CNS: emphasis on the critical role of the complement system. *Molecular Immunology*, 40, 85–94.
- Eriksen, J. L., Sagi, S. A., Smith, T. E., Weggen, S., Das, P., McLendon, D. C., et al. (2003). NSAIDs and enantiomers of flurbiprofen target γ -secretase and lower A β 42 in vivo. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 112, 440–449.
- Farris, W., Mansourian, S., Chang, Y., Lindsley, L., Eckman, E. A., Frosch, M. P., et al. (2003). Insulin-degrading enzyme regulates the levels of insulin, amyloid β-protein, and the β-amyloid precursor protein intracellular domain in vivo. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA*, 100, 4162–4167.
- Farris, W., Mansourian, S., Leissring, M. A., Eckman, E. A., Bertram, L., Eckman, C. B., et al. (2004). Partial loss-of-function mutations in insulin-degrading enzyme that induce diabetes also impair degradation of amyloid beta-protein. *American Journal of Pathology*, 164, 1425–1434.
- Feinstein, D. L., Heneka, M. T., Gavrilyuk, V., Dello Russo, C., Weinberg, G., & Galea, G. E. (2002). Noradrenergic regulation of inflammatory gene expression in brain. *Neurochemistry International*, 41, 357–365.
- Ferrari, E., Arcaini, A., Gornati, R., Pelanconi, L., Cravello, L., Fioravanti, M., et al. (2000). Pineal and pituitary-adrenocortical function in physiological aging and in senile dementia. *Experimental Gerontology*, 35, 1239–1250.
- Fiala, M., Zhang, L., Gan, X., Sherry, B., Taub, D., Graves, M. C., et al. (1998). Amyloid-beta induces chemokine secretion and monocyte migration across a human blood-brain barrier model. *Molecular Medicine*, 4, 480–489.
- Fidani, L., Goulas, A., Mirtsou, V., Petersen, R. C., Tangalos, E., Crook, R., et al. (2002). Interleukin-1A is not associated with late onset Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroscience Letters*, 323, 81–83.
- Fillit, H., Ding, W. H., Buee, L., Kalman, J., Altstiel, L., Lawlor, B., et al. (1991). Elevated circulating TNF levels in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroscience Letters*, 129, 318–320.
- Frackowiak, J., Wisniewski, H. M., Wegiel, J., Merz, G. S., Iqbal, K., & Wang, K. C. (1992). Ultrastructure of the microglia that phagocytose amyloid and the microglia that produce beta-amyloid fibrils. Acta Neuropathologica, 84, 225–233.
- Frautschy, S. A., Cole, G. M., & Baird, A. (1992). Phagocytosis and deposition of vascular beta-amyloid in rat brains injected with Alzheimer's beta-amyloid. *American Journal of Pathology*, 140, 1389–1399.
- Friedman, W. J. (2001). Cytokines regulate expression of the Type 1 interleuken-1 receptor in rat hippocampal neurons and glia. Experimental Neurology, 168, 23–31.
- Galea, E., Heneka, M. T., Dello Russo, C., & Feinstein, D. L. (2003).
 Intrinsic regulation of brain inflammatory responses. *Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology*, 23, 625–635.

- Gambassi, G., Landi, F., & Bernabei, R. (1997). Steroid therapy in AD. *Neurology*, 48, 1473–1474.
- Graham, A., Court, J. A., Martin-Ruiz, C. M., Jaros, E., Perry, R., Volsen, S. G., et al. (2002). Immunohistochemical localization of nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunits in human cerebellum. *Neuroscience*, 113, 493–507.
- Graham, A. J., Ray, M. A., Perry, E. K., Jaros, E., Perry, R. H., Volsen, S. G., et al. (2003). Differential nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunit expression in the human hippocampus. *Journal* of Chemical Anatomy, 25, 97–113.
- Griffin, W. S. T., Stanley, L. C., Ling, C., White, L., MacLeod, V., Perrot, L. J., et al. (1989). Brain interleukin I and S-100 immunoreactivity are elevated in Down syndrome and Alzheimer disease. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA, 86, 7611–7615.
- Griffin, W. S. T., Sheng, J. G., Roberts, G. W., & Mrak, R. E. (1995). Interleukin-1 expression in different plaque types in Alzheimer disease: significance in plaque evolution. *Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology*, 54, 276–281.
- Griffin, W. S. T., Nicoll, J. A. R., Grimaldi, L. M. E., Sheng, J. G., & Mrak, R. E. (2000). The pervasiveness of interleukin-1 in Alzheimer's disease: a role for specific polymorphisms in disease risk. *Experimental Gerontology*, 35, 481–487.
- Grimaldi, L. M. E., Casadei, V. M., Ferri, C., Veglia, F., Licastro, F., Annoni, G., et al. (2000). Association of early-onset Alzheimer's disease with an interleukin-1α gene polymorphism. *Annals of Neurology*, 47, 361–365.
- Harris-White, M. E., Chu, T., Miller, S. A., Simmons, M., Teter, B., Nash, D., et al. (2001). Estrogen (E2) and glucocorticoid (Gc) effects on microglia and A beta clearance in vitro and in vivo. Neurochemistry International. 39, 435–448.
- Hedley, R., Hallmayer, J., Groth, D. M., Brooks, W. S., Gandy, S. E., & Martins, R. N. (2002). Association of interleukin-1 polymorphisms with Alzheimer's disease in Australia. *Annals of Neurol*ogy. 51, 797–797.
- Ho, L., Pieroni, C., Winger, D., Purohit, D. P., Aisen, P. S., & Pasinetti, G. M. (1999). Regional distribution of cyclooxygenase-2 in the hippocampal formation in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal* of Neuroscience Research, 57, 295–303.
- Hochstrate, P., & Schlue, W. R. (1995). Ca²⁺ influx into leech neuropile glial cells mediated by nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *Glia*, 15, 43–53.
- Hoozemans, J. J., Veerhuis, R., Rozemuller, A. J., & Eikelenboom, P. (2003). Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and cyclooxygenase in Alzheimer's disease. *Current Drug Targets*, 4, 361– 468.
- Hopkins, S. J., & Rothwell, N. J. (1995). Cytokines and the nervous system I: expression and recognition. *Trends in Neuroscience*, 18, 83–88.
- Hösli, E., Ruhl, W., & Hösli, L. (2000). Histochemical and electrophysiological evidence for estrogen receptors on cultured astrocytes: colocalization with cholinergic receptors. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*, 18, 101–111.
- Hösli, E., Jurasin, K., Ruhl, W., Luthy, R., & Hösli, L. (2001). Colocalization of androgen, estrogen and cholinergic receptors on cultured astrocytes of rat central nervous system. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*, 19, 11–19.

- Hu, J., Akama, K. T., Krafft, G. A., Chromy, B. A., & Van Eldik, L. A. (1998). Amyloid-beta peptide activates cultured astrocytes: morphological alterations, cytokine induction and nitric oxide release. *Brain Research*, 785, 195–206.
- Hull, M., Lieb, K., & Fiebich, B. L. (2002). Pathways of inflammatory activation in Alzheimer's disease: potential targets for disease modifying drugs. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 9, 83–88.
- In't Veld, B. A., Ruitenberg, A., Hofman, A., Launer, L. J., Van Duijin, C. M., Stijnen, T., et al. (2001). Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs and the risk of Alzheimer's disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 345, 1515–1521.
- In't Veld, B. A., Launer, L. J., Breteler, M. M. B., Hofman, A., & Stricker, B. H. C. (2002). Pharmacologic agents associated with a preventive effect on Alzheimer's disease: a review of the epidemiologic evidence. *Epidemiologic Reviews*, 24, 248–268.
- Jiang, H., Burdick, D., Glabe, C. G., Cotman, C. W., & Tenner, A. J. (1994). Beta-Amyloid complement by binding to a specific region of the collagen-like domain of the C1q A chain. *Journal of Immunology*, 152, 5050–5059.
- Johnstone, M., Gearing, A. J. H., & Miller, K. M. (1999). A central role for astrocytes in the inflammatory response to β-amyloid; chemokines, cytokines and reactive oxygen species are produced. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 93, 182–193.
- Kalaria, R. N. (1999). Microglia and Alzheimer's disease. Current Opinion in Heatology, 6, 15–24.
- Kopek, K. K., & Carroll, R. T. (1998). Alzheimer's beta-amyloid peptide 1–42 induces a phagocytic response in murine microglia. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 71, 2123–2131.
- Kuo, Y. M., Liao, P. C., Chingju, L., Wu, C. W., Huang, H. M., Lin, C. C., et al. (2003). Lack of association between interleukin-1α polymorphism and Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimer's Disease and Associated Disorders, 17, 94–97.
- Kurt, M. A., Davies, D. C., & Kidd, M. (1999). B-amyloid immunoreactivity in astrocytes in Alzheimer's disease brain biopsies: an electron microscope study. *Experimental Neurology*, 158, 221–228.
- Landreth, G. E., & Heneka, M. T. (2001). Anti-inflammatory actions of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma agonists in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 22, 937–944.
- Lee, Y. B., Nagai, A., & Kim, S. U. (2002). Cytokines, chemokines, and cytokine receptors in human microglia. *Journal of Neuro*science Research, 69, 94–103.
- Lehmann, J. M., Lenhard, J. M., Oliver, B. B., Ringold, G. M., & Kliewer, S. A. (1997). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors α and γ are activated by indomethacin and other nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. *Journal of Biological Chem*istry, 272, 3406–3410.
- Li, R., Shen, Y., Yang, B. L., Lue, L. F., Finch, C., & Rogers, J. (2000). Estrogen enhances uptake of amyloid beta-protein by microglia derived from the human cortex. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 75, 1447–1454.
- Li, Y., Barger, S. W., Liu, L., Mrak, R. E., & Griffin, W. S. T. (2000). S100β induction of the pro-inflammatory cytokine interleukin-6 in neurons: implications for Alzheimer pathogenesis. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 74, 143–150.
- Liu, T., Clark, R. K., McDonnell, P. C., Young, P. R., White, R. F., Barone, F. C., et al. (1994). Tumor necrosis factor-alpha

- expression in ischemic neurons. Stroke, A Journal of Cerebral Circulation, 25, 1481–1488.
- Lue, L. F., Walker, D. G., Brachova, L., Beach, T. G., Rogers, J., Schmidt, A. M., et al. (2001). Involvement of microglial receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) in Alzheimer's disease: identification of a cellular activation mechanism. *Experimental Neurology*, 171, 29–45.
- Ma, S. L., Tang, N. L. S., Lam, L. C. W., & Chiu, H. F. K. (2004).
 Association between tumor necrosis factor-alpha promoter polymorphism in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*, 62, 307–309.
- Mackenzie, I. R. A. (2001). Postmortem studies of the effect of antiinflammatory drugs on Alzheimer-type pathology and associated inflammation. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 22, 819–822.
- Mackenzie, I. R. A., & Munoz, D. G. (1998). Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drug use and Alzheimer-type pathology in aging. *Neurology*, 50, 986–990.
- Mamdani, J. M., Rochon, P. A., Juurlink, D. N., Kopp, A., Anderson, G. M., Naglie, G., et al. (2002). Observational study of upper gastrointestinal haemorrhage in elderly patients given selective cyclo-oxygenase-2 inhibitors or conventional non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs. *British Medical Journal*, 325, 624.
- Mahyar, E., Gill, S., & Samii, A. (2003). Effect of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs on risk of Alzheimer's disease: systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *British Medical Journal*, 327, 128–131.
- McGeer, P. L., & McGeer, E. G. (1995). The inflammatory response system of the brain: implications for therapy of Alzheimer and other neurodegenerative diseases. *Brain Research Reviews*, 21, 195–218
- McGeer, P. L., & McGeer, E. G. (2001). Inflammation, autotoxicity and Alzheimer disease. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 22, 799–809.
- McGeer, P. L., McGeer, E., Rogers, J., & Sibley, J. (1990). Antiinflammatory drugs and Alzheimer's disease. *Lancet*, 335, 1037.
- McGeer, P. L., Schulzer, M., & McGeer, K. G. (1996). Arthritis and anti-inflammatory agents as possible protective factors for Alzheimer's disease: a review of 17 epidemiological studies. *Neurology*, 47, 425–432.
- McGeer, E. G., Yasojima, K., Schwab, C., & McGeer, P. L. (2001).
 The pentraxins: possible role in Alzheimer's disease and other innate inflammatory diseases. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 22, 843–848.
- Mitrasinovic, O. M., & Murphy, G. M. (2003). Microglial overexpression of the M-CSF receptor augments phagocytosis of opsonized Aβ. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 24, 807–815.
- Mold, A., Gewurz, H., & Du Clos, T. W. (1999). Regulation of complement activation by C-reactive protein. *Immunopharmacology*, 42, 23–30
- Moore, A. H., & O'Banion, M. K. (2002). Neuroinflammation and anti-inflammatory therapy for Alzheimer's disease. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 54, 1627–1656.
- Morita, I. (2002). Distinct functions of COX-1 and COX-2. *Prostaglandins & Other Lipid Mediators*, 6869, 165–175.
- Mrak, R. E., & Griffin, W. S. T. (2001a). The role of activated astrocytes and of the neurotrophic cytokine S100B in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 22, 915–922.
- Mrak, R. E., & Griffin, W. S. T. (2001b). Interleukin-1, neuroin-flammation, and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 22, 903–908.

- Nagele, R. G., D'Andrea, M. R., Lee, H., Venkataraman, V., & Wang, H. Y. (2003). Astrocytes accumulate Aβ42 and give rise to astrocytic amyloid plaques in Alzheimer's disease brains. *Brain Research*, 971, 197–209.
- Netland, E. E., Newton, J. L., Majocha, R. E., & Tate, B. A. (1998). Indomethacin reverses the microglial response to amyloid β-protein. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 19, 201–204.
- Nicoll, J. A., Mrak, R. E., Graham, D. I., Stewart, J., Wilcock, G., MacGowan, S., et al. (2000). Association of interleukin-1 gene polymorphisms with Alzheimer's disease. *Annals of Neurology*, 47, 365–368.
- Nilsson, L. N. G., Das, S., & Potter, H. (2001). Effect of cytokines, dexamethazone and the A/T-signal peptide polymorphism on the expression of alpha₁-antichymotrypsin in astrocytes: significance for Alzheimer's disease. *Neurochemistry International*, 39, 361–370.
- Nogawa, S., Takao, M., Suzuki, S., Tanaka, K., Koto, A., Fukuuchi, Y., et al. (2003). COX-2 expression in brains of patients with familial Alzheimer's disease. *International Congress Series*, 1252, 363–372.
- Papassotiropoulos, A., Bagli, M., Jessen, F., Bayer, T. A., Maier, W., Rao, M. L., et al. (1999). A genetic variation of the inflammatory cytokine interleukin-6 delays the initial onset and reduces the risk of sporadic Alzheimer's disease. *Annals of Neurology*, 45, 666–668.
- Papassotiropoulos, A., Hock, C., & Nitsch, R. M. (2001). Genetics of interleukin 6: implications for Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 22, 863–871.
- Pasinetti, G. M. (2002). From epidemiology to therapeutic trials with anti-inflammatory drugs in Alzheimer's disease: the role of NSAIDs and cyclooxygenase in beta-amyloidosis and clinical dementia. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 4, 435– 445
- Pasinetti, G. M., & Aisen, P. S. (1998). Cyclooxygenase-2 expression is increased in frontal cortex of Alzheimer's disease brain. *Neuroscience*, 87, 319–324.
- Pasternack, J. M., Abraham, C. R., Van Dyke, B. J., Potter, H., & Younkin, S. G. (1989). Astrocytes in Alzheimer's disease gray matter express alpha1-antichymotrypsin mRNA. American Journal of Pathology, 125, 827–834.
- Perea, G., & Araque, A. (2002). Communication between astrocytes and neurons: a complex language. *Journal of Physiology – Paris*, 96, 199–207.
- Perry, R. T., Collins, J. S., Wiener, H., Acton, R., & Go, R. C. P. (2001). The role of TNF and its receptors in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 22, 873–883.
- Peskind, E. R., Wilkinson, C. W., Petrie, E. C., Schellenberg, G. D., & Raskind, M. A. (2001). Increased CSF cortisol in AD is a function of APOE genotype. *Neurology*, 56, 1094–1098.
- Price, J., Kemper, C., Atkinson, J., & Morris, J. (2002). Activation of complement cascade, and lack of regulatory proteins, on plaques and tangles in aging and early Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology* of Aging, 23, 223.
- Qiu, W. Q., Ye, Z., Kholodenko, D., Seubert, P., & Selkoe, D. J. (1997). Degradation of amyloid β-protein by a metalloprotease secreted by microglia and other neural and non-neural cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272, 6641–6646.

- Qiu, W. Q., Walsh, D. M., Ye, Z., Vekrellis, K., Zhang, J., Podlisny, M. B., et al. (1998). Insulin-degrading enzyme regulates extracellular levels of amyloid β-protein by degradation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273, 32730–32738.
- Reines, S. A., Block, G. A., Morris, J. C., Liu, G., Nessly, M. L., Lines, C. R., et al. (2004). Rofecoxib: no effect on Alzheimer's disease in a 1-year, randomized, blinded, controlled study. *Neurology*, 62, 66–71.
- Renauld, A. E., & Spengler, R. N. (2002). Tumor necrosis factor expressed by primary hippocampal neurons SH-SY5Y cells is regulated by alpha(2)-adrenergic receptor activation. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 67, 264–274.
- Rich, J. B., Rasmusson, D. X., Folstein, M. F., Carson, K. A., Kawas, C., & Brandt, J. (1995). Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*, 45, 51–55.
- Rogers, J., & Lue, L. F. (2001). Microglial chemotaxis, activation, and phagocytosis of amyloid β-peptide as linked phenomena in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurochemistry International*, 39, 333–340.
- Rogers, J., Cooper, N. R., Webster, S., Schultz, J., McGeer, P. L., Styren, S. D., et al. (1992). Complement activation by β-amyloid in Alzheimer's disease. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA, 89, 10016–10020.
- Rogers, S. W., Gregori, N. Z., Carlson, N., Gahring, L., & Noble, M. (2001). Neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptor expression by O2A/oligodendrocyte progenitor cells. *Glia*, 33, 306–313.
- Rogers, J., Strohmeyer, R., Kovelowski, C. J., & Li, R. (2002). Microglia and inflammatory mechanisms in the clearance of amyloid β peptide. *Glia*, 40, 260–269.
- Sastre, M., Dewachter, I., Landreth, G. E., Willson, T. M., Klockgether, T., van Leuven, F., et al. (2003). Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-γ agonists modulate immunostimulated processing of amyloid precursor protein through regulation of β-secretase. Journal of Neurosciences, 23, 9796–9804.
- Sciacca, F. L., Ferri, C., Licastro, F., Veglia, F., Biunno, I., Gavazzi, A., et al. (2003). Interleukin-1B polymorphism is associated with age at onset of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 24, 927–931.
- Sharma, G., & Vijayaraghavan, S. (2001). Nicotinic cholinergic signaling in hippocampal astrocytes involves calcium-induced calcium release from intracellular stores. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA*, 98, 4148–4153.
- Sharma, G., & Vijayaraghavan, S. (2002). Nicotinic receptor signaling in nonexcitable cells. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 53, 524–534.
- Schug, S. A., Garrett, W. R., & Gillespie, G. (2003). Opioid and nonopioid analgesics. Best Practice & Research: Clinical Anaesthesiology, 17, 91–110.
- Shen, Y., Li, R., McGeer, E. G., & McGeer, P. L. (1997). Neuronal expression of mRNAs for complement proteins of the classical pathway in Alzheimer disease. *Brain Research*, 769, 391–395.
- Shen, Y., Lue, L., Yang, L., Roher, A., Kuo, Y., Strohmeyer, R., et al. (2001). Complement activation by neurofibrillary tangles in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroscience Letters*, 305, 165–168.
- Sheng, J. G., Mrak, R. E., & Griffin, W. S. (1997). Glial-neuronal interactions in Alzheimer disease: progressive association of IL-1alpha + microglia and S100beta + astrocytes with neurofibril-

- lary tangles stages. *Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology*, 56, 285–290.
- Sherwin, B. B. (2003). Estrogen and cognitive functioning in women. *Endocrine Reviews*, 24, 133–151.
- Shibata, N., Ohnuma, T., Takahashi, T., Baba, H., Ishizuka, T., Ohtsuka, M., et al. (2002). Effect of IL-6 polymorphism on risk of Alzheimer disease: genotype-phenotype association study in Japanese cases. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, 114, 136–139.
- Simic, G., Lucassen, P. J., Krsnik, Z., Kruslin, P., Kostovic, I., Winblad, B., et al. (2000). nNOS expression in reactive astrocytes correlates with increased cell death related DNA damage in the hippocampus and entorhinal cortex in Alzheimer's disease. *Experimental Neurology*, 165, 12–26.
- Skovronsky, D. M., Lee, V. M. Y., & Pratico, D. (2001). Amyloid precursor protein and amyloid beta peptide in human platelets: role of cyclooxygenase and protein kinase C. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276, 17034–17043.
- Smit, A. B., Syed, N. I., Schaap, D., van Minnen, J., Klumperman, J., Kits, K. S., et al. (2001). A glia-derived acetylcholine-binding protein that modulates synaptic transmission. *Nature*, 411, 261–268.
- Smits, H. A., Rijsmus, A., Van Loon, J. H., Wat, J. W. Y., Verhoef, J., Boven, L. A., et al. (2002). Amyloid-beta-induced chemokine production in primary human macrophages and astrocytes. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 127, 160–168.
- Stoll, G., Jander, S., & Schroeter, M. (2000). Cytokines in CNS disorders: neurotoxicity versus neuroprotection. *Journal of Neural Transmission Supplement*, 59, 81–89.
- Streit, W. J., & Kincaid-Colton, C. A. (1995). The brain's immune system. Scientific American, 273, 38–43.
- Streit, W. J., Walter, S. A., & Pennell, N. A. (1999). Reactive microgliosis. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 57, 563–581.
- Streit, W. J., Conde, J. R., & Harrison, J. K. (2001). Chemokines and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 22, 909–913.
- Strohmeyer, R., Shen, Y., & Rogers, J. (2000). Detection of complement alternative pathway mRNA and proteins in the Alzheimer's disease brain. *Molecular Brain Research*, 81, 7–18.
- Szalai, A. J., Agrawal, A., Greenbough, T. J., & Volanakis, J. E. (1997). C-reactive Protein: structural biology, gene expression and host defense function. *Immunologic Research*, 16, 127–136.
- Szczepanik, A. M., & Ringheim, G. E. (2003). IL-10 and gluco-corticoids inhibit Abeta(1–42)- and lipopolysaccharide-induced pro-inflammatory cytokine and chemokine induction in the central nervous system. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 5, 105–117.
- Szczepanik, A. M., Rampe, D., & Ringheim, G. E. (2001). Amyloidβ peptide fragments p3 and p4 induce pro-inflammatory cytokine and chemokine production in vitro and in vivo. *Journal of Neu*rochemistry, 77, 304–317.
- Tarkowski, E., Liljeroth, A. M., Minthon, L., Tarkowski, A., Wallin, A., & Blennow, K. (2003). Cerebral pattern of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines in dementias. *Brain Research Bulletin*, 61, 255–260.
- Tchelingerian, J. L., Vignais, L., & Jacque, C. (1994). TNF alpha gene expression is induced in neurons after a hippocampal lesion. *Neuroreport*, 5, 585–588.

- Tchelingerian, J. L., Le Seux, F., & Jacque, C. (1996). Identification and topography of neuronal cells populations expressing TNF alpha and IL-1 alpha in response to hippocampal lesion. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 43, 99–106.
- Teaktong, T., Graham, A., Court, J., Perry, R., Jaros, E., Johnson, M., et al. (2003). Alzheimer's disease is associated with a selective increase in α7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor immunoreactivity in astrocytes. *Glia*, 41, 207–211.
- Terai, K., Walker, D. G., McGeer, E. G., & McGeer, P. L. (1997).Neurons express proteins of the classical complement pathway in Alzheimer disease. *Brain Research*, 769, 385–390.
- Tomozawa, Y., Inoue, T., Takahashi, M., Adachi, M., & Satoh, M. (1996). Apoptosis of cultured microglia by the deprivation of macrophage colony stimulating factor. *Neuroscience Research*, 25, 7–15.
- Valeria, P. (1998). The role of C/EBP isoforms in the control of inflammatory and native immunity functions. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273, 29279–29282.
- Van Gool, W. A., Weinstein, H. C., Scheltens, P. K., & Walstra, G. J. M. (2001). Effect of hydroxychloroquine on progression of dementia in early Alzheimer's disease: an 18-month randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Lancet*, 358, 455–460.
- Wang, H. Y., Lee, D., D'Andrea, M., Peterson, P., Shank, R., & Reitz, A. (2000). β-Amyloid₁₋₄₂ binds to α7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor with high affinity: implications for Alzheimer's disease pathology. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275, 5626–5632.
- Wang, H., Yu, M., Ochani, M., Amella, C. A., Tanovic, M., Susaria, S., et al. (2003). Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor α7 subunit is an essential regulator of inflammation. *Nature*, 421, 384–388
- Webster, S., Bradt, B., Rogers, J., & Cooper, N. (1997). Aggregation state-dependent activation of the classical component pathway by the amyloid beta peptide. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 69, 388–398.
- Webster, S., Lue, L. F., Brachova, L., Tenner, A. J., McGeer, P. L., Terai, K., et al. (1997). Molecular and cellular characterization of the membrane attack complex, c5b-9, in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of Aging*, *18*, 415–421.
- Weggen, S., Eriksen, J. L., Das, P., Sagi, S. A., Wang, R., Pietrzik, C. U., et al. (2001). A subset of NSAIDs lower amyloidogenic Aβ42 independently of cyclooxygenase activity. *Nature*, 414, 212–216.
- Weggen, S., Eriksen, J. L., Sagi, S. A., Pietrzik, C. U., Ozlos, V., Fauq, A., et al. (2003). Evidence that nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs decrease amyloid β42 production by direct modulation of γ-secretase activity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278, 31831–31837.
- Wegiel, J., Wang, K. C., Tarnawski, M., & Lach, B. (2000). Microglial cells are the driving force in fibrillar plaque formation, whereas astrocytes are a leading factor in plaque degradation. Acta Neuropathologica, 100, 356–364.
- Weldon, D. T., Rogers, S. D., Ghilardi, J. R., Finke, M. P., Cleary, J. P., O'Hare, E., et al. (1998). Fibrillar beta-amyloid induces mi-

- croglial phagocytosis, expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase, and loss of a select population of neurons in the rat CNS in vivo. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 18, 2161–2173.
- Wessler, I., Reinheimer, T., Klapproth, H., Schneider, F. J., Racké, K., & Hammer, R. (1997). Mammalian glial cells in culture synthesize acetylcholine. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Archives of Pharmacology*, 356, 694–697.
- Wilson, C. J., Finch, C. E., & Cohen, H. J. (2002). Cytokines and cognition-the case for a head-to-toe inflammation paradigm. *Journal of the American Geriatric Society*, 50, 2041–2056.
- Wyss-Coray, T., Loike, J. D., Brionne, T. C., Lu, E., Anankov, R., Yan, F., et al. (2003). Adult mouse astrocytes degrade amyloid-β in vitro and in situ. *Nature Medicine*, 9, 453–457.
- Yamaguchi, H., Sugihara, S., Ogawa, A., Saido, T. C., & Ihara, Y. (1998). Diffuse plaques associated with astroglial amyloid β protein, possibly showing a disappearing stage of senile plaques. Acta Neuropathologica, 95, 217–222.
- Yan, Q., Zhang, J., Liu, H., Babu-Khan, S., Vassar, R., Biere, A. L., et al. (2003). Anti-inflammatory drug therapy alters β-amyloid processing and deposition in an animal model of Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 23, 7504–7509.
- Yang, X. L., Konishi, Y., & Shen, Y. (2002). Complement protective protein XD59 is deficient in brains with neurodegenerative disorder. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 23, 223.
- Yasojima, K., McGeer, E. G., & McGeer, P. L. (1999). Complement regulators C1 inhibitor and CD59 do not significantly inhibit complement activation in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Research*, 833, 297–301.
- Yasojima, K., Schwab, C., McGeer, E. G., & McGeer, P. L. (1999a).
 Up-regulation and activation of the complement system in the Alzheimer's disease brain. *American Journal of Pathology*, 154, 927–936.
- Yasojima, K., Schwab, C., McGeer, E. G., & McGeer, P. L. (1999b). Distribution of cyclooxygenase-1 and cyclooxygenase-2 mRNA and proteins in human brain and peripheral organs. *Brain Research*. 830, 226–236.
- Yasojima, K., Schwab, C., McGeer, E. G., & McGeer, P. L. (2000).
 Human neurons generate C-reactive protein and amyloid P: up-regulation in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Research*, 887, 80–89.
- Yu, J. X., Bradt, B. M., & Cooper, N. R. (2002). Constitutive expression of proinflammatory complement components by subsets of neurons in the central nervous system. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 123, 91–101.
- Zamani, M. R., & Allen, Y. S. (2001). Nicotine and its interaction with β-amyloid protein: a short review. *Biological Psychiatry*, 49, 221–232.
- Zandi, P. P., & Breitner, J. C. S. (2001). Do NSAIDs prevent Alzheimer's disease? And, if so, why? The epidemiological evidence. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 22, 811–817.
- Zhou, Y., Su, Y., Li, B., Liu, F., Ryder, J. W., Wu, X., et al. (2003). Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs can lower amyloidogenic Aβ42 by inhibiting Rho. *Science*, 302, 1215–1217.